In The Iowa Supreme Court Supreme Court No. 17-0638

MATTHEW JAHNKE,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

DEERE & COMPANY, RICHARD CZARNECKI, and BERNHARD HAAS,

Defendants-Appellants.

Interlocutory Appeal from the District Court for Polk County

The Honorable David M. Porter

Appellants' Final Brief

(Oral Argument Requested)

Frank Harty, AT0003356

Debra Hulett, AT0003665

NYEMASTER GOODE, P.C.
700 Walnut Street, Suite 1600

Des Moines, IA 50309 Telephone: 515-283-3100 Facsimile: 515-283-8045

Email: fharty@nyemaster.com Email: dlhulett@nyemaster.com Attorneys for Defendants-Appellants Deere & Company, Richard Czarnecki, and Bernhard Haas

Statement of issues presented for review

Division I

Does the Iowa Civil Rights Act apply extraterritorially?

Ackelson v. Manley Toy Direct, L.L.C., 832 N.W.2d 678 (Iowa 2013)

Adair Benev. Soc'y v. State Ins. Div., 489 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 1992)

Albert v. DRS Techs., Inc., No. 2:10-cv-03886, 2011 WL 2036965 (D.N.J. May 23, 2011)

Arnold v. Cargill, Inc., No. Civ. 012086, 2002 WL 1576141 (D. Minn. Jul. 15, 2002)

Beach v. Youngblood, 247 N.W. 545 (Iowa 1933)

Blackman v. Lincoln Nat'l Corp., No. 10-6946, 2012 WL 6151732 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 10, 2012)

Brakke v. Iowa Dep't Natural Resources, 897 N.W.2d 522 (Iowa 2017)

Campbell v. Arco Marine, Inc., 50 Cal. Rptr. 2d 626 (Cal. Ct. App. 1996)

Cedar Rapids Human Rights Comm'n v. Cedar Rapids Cmty. Sch. Dist., 222 N.W.2d 391 (Iowa 1974)

EEOC v. CRST Van Expedited, Inc., No. 07-CV-95-LRR, 2009 WL 1586193 (N.D. Iowa June 2, 2009)

EEOC v. CRST Van Expedited, Inc., 679 F.3d 657 (8th Cir. 2012)

EEOC v. Arabian Am. Oil Co., 499 U.S. 244 (1991)

Estabrook v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 283 N.W.2d 306 (Iowa 1979)

Griffen v. State, 767 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 2009)

Homan v. Branstad, 887 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 2016)

Hulme v. Barrett, 449 N.W.2d 629 (Iowa 1989)

Iron Workers Local No. 67 v. Hart, 191 N.W.2d 758 (Iowa 1971)

Judkins v. St. Joseph's Coll. of Me., 483 F. Supp. 2d 60 (D. Me. 2007)

LaBore v. Muth, 473 N.W.2d 485, 489 (S.D. 1991)

Longaker v. Boston Scientific Corp., 872 F. Supp. 2d 816 (D. Minn. 2012)

Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247 (2010)

Pippen v. State of Iowa, 854 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2014)

Pittman v. Cook Paper Recycling Corp., 478 S.W.3d 479 (Mo. Ct. App. 2015)

Pfeiffer v. Wm. Wrigley Jr. Co., 755 F.2d 554 (7th Cir. 1985)

Powell v. Khodari-Intergreen Co., 334 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 1983)

Rent-A-Center, Inc. v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 843 N.W.2d 727 (Iowa 2014)

RJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. 2090 (2016)

Simon Seeding & Sod, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 895 N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 2017)

State Sur. Co. v. Lensing, 249 N.W.2d 608 (Iowa 1977)

Union Underwear Co., Inc. v. Barnhart, 50 S.W.3d 188 (Ky. 2001)

1965 Iowa Acts ch. 121

1967 Iowa Acts ch. 122

1970 Iowa Acts ch. 1058

1972 Iowa Acts ch. 1031

1972 Iowa Acts ch. 1032

1974 Iowa Acts ch. 1265

1978 Iowa Acts ch. 1179

1988 Iowa Acts ch. 1236

1991 Iowa Acts ch. 184

2007 Iowa Acts ch. 191

2009 Iowa Acts ch. 96

29 U.S.C. § 623(f)(l)

29 U.S.C. § 630(f)

42 U.S.C. § 2000e(f)

42 U.S.C. § 2000e-1

42 U.S.C. § 12111(4)

42 U.S.C. § 12112(c)(1)

Iowa Code § 4.4 (2015)

Iowa Code § 17A.23(3) (2015)

Iowa Code § 85.71 (2015)

Iowa Code § 105A.2(5) (1966)

Iowa Code § 105A.5(3) (1966)

Iowa Code § 105A.5(5) (1966)

Iowa Code § 105A.9 (1966)

Iowa Code § 105A.10 (1966)

Iowa Code § 216.2(3)(2015)

Iowa Code § 216.2(6) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.2(7)(2015)

Iowa Code § 216.3 (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.4 (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.5(3) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.5(6)(2015)

Iowa Code § 216.5(5) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.5(7) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.5(8) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.6(1) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.6(1)(a) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.6(3) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.6(6)(a) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.6A (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.15 (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.15(1)(2015)

Iowa Code § 216.15(9) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.16 (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.16(1)(2015)

Iowa Code § 216.16(2) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.19 (2015)

Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, Pub. L. No. 90-202, 81 Stat. 602

Civil Rights Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-166, § 109(a), 105 Stat. 1071

Older Americans Act Amendments of 1984, Pub. L. No. 98-459, § 802(a), 98 Stat. 1767

Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, Pub. L. No. 88-352, § 701(b), 78 Stat. 241

Iowa Admin. Code. r. 161-8.15(3)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 161-8.56(1)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 161-8.56(3)

Black's Law Dictionary 1961 (10th ed. 2014)

Arthur Bonfield, *State Civil Rights Statutes: Some Proposals*, 49 Iowa L. Rev. 1067 (1964)

Arthur E. Bonfield, The Origin and Development of American Fair Employment Legislation, 52 Iowa L. Rev. 1043 (1967)

Arthur E. Bonfield, *The Origin and Rationale of the Iowa Civil Rights Act*, Iowa Advocate, Spring/Summer 1990

775 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 5/1-103(A)

775 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 5/2-102(A)

Mo. Rev. Stat. § 213.010

Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-1104

S.D. Codified Laws § 20-13-10

Division II

Is a U.S. citizen working abroad in China within the Iowa Civil

Rights Act's geographic reach?

EEOC v. Arabian Am. Oil Co., 499 U.S. 244 (1991)

Blackman v. Lincoln Nat'l Corp., No. 10-6946, 2012 WL 6151732 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 10, 2012)

Buccilli v. Timby, Brown & Timby, 660 A.2d 1261 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1995)

Cleary v. United States Lines, Inc., 728 F.2d 607 (3d Cir. 1984)

Dindinger v. Allsteel, Inc., 860 N.W.2d 557 (Iowa 2015)

Guillory v. Princess Cruise Lines, Ltd., No. 8192233, 2007 WL 102851 (Cal. Ct. App. Jan. 17, 2007)

Hoffman v. Parade Publ'ns, 933 N.E.2d 744 (N.Y. 2010)

Homan v. Branstad, 887 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 2016)

Judkins v. St. Joseph's Coll. of Me., 483 F. Supp. 2d 60 (D. Me. 2007)

Kelman v. Foot Locker, No. CIV A 05-CV-2069 PGS, 2006 WL 3333506 (D.N.J. Nov. 16, 2006)

McQuistion v. City of Clinton, 872 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa 2015)

Peikin v. Kimmel & Silverman, P.C., 576 F. Supp. 2d 654 (D.N.J. 2008)

Pfeiffer v. Wm. Wrigley Jr. Co., 755 F.2d 554 (7th Cir. 1985)

Pfeiffer v. Wm. Wrigley Jr. Co., 573 F. Supp. 458 (N.D. Ill. 1983)

Ralis v. RFE/RL, Inc., 770 F.2d 1121 (D.C. Cir. 1985)

Rent-A-Center, Inc. v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 843 N.W.2d 727 (Iowa 2014)

Runyon v. Kubota Tractor Corp., 653 N.W.2d 582 (Iowa 2002)

Satz v. Taipina, No. CIV A 01-5921(JBS), 2003 WL 22207205 (D.N.J.

Apr. 15, 2003)

Union Underwear Co., Inc. v. Barnhart, 50 S.W.3d 188 (Ky. 2001)

Vangas v. Montefiore Med. Ctr., 823 F.3d 174 (2d Cir. 2016)

Zahourek v. Arthur Young & Co., 750 F.2d 827 (10th Cir. 1984)

Iowa Code § 216.6 (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.6(2)(e) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.16(2) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.16(5) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.19(2) (2015)

Iowa Code § 216.19(6) (2015)

City Code of Iowa City 2-4-1.A

Routing statement

This case presents a substantial issue of first impression: whether the Iowa Civil Rights Act applies extraterritorially and the applicable legal analysis to determine if an employment practice is within the Iowa Act's geographic reach. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). Additionally, this case presents a substantial question asking the Court to enunciate legal principles outlining the extent to which the Iowa Civil Rights Act applies extraterritorially, if at all. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f).

Statement of the case

A. Nature of the case.

While on an expatriate work assignment in China, Matthew Jahnke had sexual relationships with two younger, female, Chinese subordinates. (JA-I 55-61; JA-II 51 [54:6-9], 110-114). In June 2014, Jahnke's employer in China and its parent corporation, Deere & Company ("Deere"), determined that Jahnke failed to properly disclose these relationships in compliance with the company's work rules, and disciplined him by ending his expatriate assignment. (JA-I 55-61; JA-II 114-115, 231). Jahnke filed this lawsuit in April 2015, alleging employment discrimination under the Iowa Civil Rights Act¹ against Deere, his former supervisor, Richard Czarnecki, and Czarnecki's supervisor, Dr. Bernhard Haas. (JA-I 55-61). In June 2014, Jahnke was a 60-year old Caucasian male, born in the United States. (JA-II 63 [189:8-10], 173-174, 180).

¹ We refer to the Iowa Civil Rights Act as the "Iowa Act" and the "Act."

In January 2011, Jahnke commenced the expatriate work assignment in the People's Republic of China, working for Deere's China subsidiary. (JA-I 178, 197-198, 212). From January 2011 through June 2014, Jahnke's workplace was in Harbin, China. (JA-I 55-61, 197, 212). Initially, Jahnke was Project Manager, overseeing construction and startup of a new facility in Harbin, known as Harbin Works. (JA-I 56¶¶ 10-11). Once Harbin Works began production, Jahnke was Factory Manager. (JA-I 56¶¶ 10-11).

In June 2014, Deere and its China subsidiary disciplined Jahnke by removing him as the Harbin Works Factory Manager and repatriating him to the United States. (JA-II 115, 191). That discipline was based on a determination that Jahnke violated work rules developed at Deere's Illinois corporate headquarters, and administered by its China Compliance Committee, located in China. (JA-I 570-571; JA-II 114-115, 191). Czarnecki and Haas were directed to travel to Beijing, China, to communicate the disciplinary decision to Jahnke. (JA-I 159-160; JA-II 191, 205, 214, 224).

In August 2014, after the repatriation process was complete,
Jahnke commenced his new assignment at Deere's Waterloo Works
facility in Waterloo, Iowa. (JA-I 55-61; JA-II 186). Less than one week
after starting his new work assignment, Jahnke signed an Iowa Civil
Rights Commission administrative charge, complaining that the
decision to remove him as Harbin Works Factory Manager and
repatriate him to the United States was motivated by age, national
origin, and sex. (JA-I 450-455). Jahnke later filed this lawsuit. (JA-I 5556).

B. Course of proceedings.

On April 24, 2015, Jahnke filed suit in Polk County district court, alleging that Deere's decision to remove him from the Harbin Works Factory Manager position and repatriate him to the United States violated the Iowa Civil Rights Act. (JA-I 58-60 ¶¶ 27, 32, 34-38, 44). Jahnke pleaded a disparate-treatment discrimination claim based on age, national origin, and sex. (JA-I 59-60 ¶¶ 34-37). Jahnke alleges that he was disciplined more harshly than the two younger, female,

and Chinese subordinates with whom he had sexual relationships. (JA-I 59 $\P\P$ 35-37). Jahnke also claims that he was disciplined more severely than other Chinese citizens who he believes engaged in comparable conduct. (JA-I 59-60 \P 38).

C. Disposition of the case in the district court.

On July 14, 2016, Deere, Czarnecki, and Haas filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that the Iowa Civil Rights Act does not have extraterritorial effect. (JA-I 71-75).

On April 14, 2017, the district court issued an order denying the motion for summary judgment. (JA-I 676-680). In part, the district court reasoned that "both parties have sufficient contact with the State of Iowa in order for the Iowa Civil Rights Act to have territorial effect." (JA-I 677).

On April 21, 2017, Deere, Czarnecki, and Haas applied for an interlocutory appeal. (JA-I 681-702). On May 19, 2017, this Court granted the interlocutory appeal. (JA-I 703-705).

Statement of the facts

A. Deere's Moline, Illinois, and China operations.

Deere & Company, a publicly traded corporation, is incorporated in Delaware, with its corporate headquarters and principal place of business in Moline, Illinois. (JA-I 156, 212). Deere has global operations, and does business in the People's Republic of China through its subsidiary, John Deere (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (JA-I 212). The global business operations of Deere and its subsidiaries include nearly one hundred units across more than forty countries, including China, India, Germany, Russia, Brazil, and many other countries.² (JA-I 401, 474, 567; JA-II 330, 360).

In 2014, Richard Czarnecki was Deere's Global Director of Large Tractor Products. (JA-I 212). Czarnecki resided in Scott County, Iowa. (JA-I 55). In 2014, Dr. Bernhard Haas was Deere's Senior Vice President for Ag and Turf and Global Platform Tractors. (JA-I 212).

Haas, a citizen of Germany, worked at Deere's Moline, Illinois corporate headquarters and resided in Bettendorf, Iowa. (JA-II 32 [16:2-13, 21-22]).

B. Jahnke's expatriate assignment in Harbin, China.

On January 16, 2011, Jahnke commenced an expatriate work assignment in Harbin, a city located in the northeastern region of the People's Republic of China. (JA-I 56 ¶¶ 10-11, 178, 197-209, 212). Initially, Jahnke worked as Project Manager, overseeing the startup of Harbin Works, a new Deere factory in Harbin. (JA-I 56 ¶¶ 10-11). When the Harbin Works factory commenced manufacturing activities, Jahnke's position changed to Factory Manager. (JA-I 56; JA-II 13 [30:15-20, 32:2-7]). Jahnke resided in Harbin throughout the expatriate assignment, from January 2011 through July 2014. (JA-I 578; JA-II 421-423, 549, 608).

² This information is outdated; it is based on materials in the summary-judgment record. For current information, *see* http://www.deere.com/en_US/corporate/our_company/about_us/worldwidelocations.page.

While he was on the expatriate work assignment, Jahnke's employer was John Deere (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (JA-I 197-209, 212). Jahnke signed an employment contract with John Deere (China) Investment Co., Ltd., that covered the expatriate assignment. (JA-I 197-209). Jahnke did not sign employment contracts when he was stationed in the U.S. for Deere work assignments. (JA-II 56 [115:15-116:11]).

Jahnke's "home unit," the unit where he was working when he accepted the expatriate assignment, initiated Jahnke's international assignment paperwork. (JA-I 567-568). Once the international assignment process was initiated, Deere's Global Mobility Services (located in Moline, Illinois) and the "host unit" (located in China) handled Jahnke's employment, including the expatriate compensation and benefits that Jahnke received. (JA-I 567-568; JA-II 301).

While on the expatriate assignment in Harbin, Jahnke was eligible for benefits and compensation that a U.S. citizen working the

United States would not have been eligible to receive. (JA-I 568, 578-579, 587). Jahnke received additional compensation due to his expatriate assignment, including an international premium allowance (15% monthly salary), a hardship allowance (20% monthly salary), and a goods and services differential allowance. (JA-I 177, 578-579, 587; JA-II 295, 301-317, 390). See also In re Marriage of Jahnke, 851 N.W.2d 854, 2014 WL 2432154, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. May 29, 2014). As an expatriate, Jahnke was eligible for the United HealthCare International medical insurance plan, and received various other benefits only available to expatriate employees, including a temporary living allowance, housing at company expense, income tax equalization and tax preparation for U.S. and foreign tax returns, home leave, rest and relaxation trips, home sale incentive bonus, and company transportation services (car and driver) in the foreign country. (JA-I 578; JA-II 301-317).

During the duration of Jahnke's expatriate assignment in Harbin, Jahnke was placed on the Deere & Company International

Payroll. (JA-I 568). When a U.S. citizen is on an international assignment, that employee's payroll is administered by Deere & Company International Payroll, which is located in Moline, Illinois. (JA-I 568). International Payroll makes Social Security contributions for such an employee, consistent with U.S. law. (JA-I 568).

C. Jahnke's workplace in Harbin, China.

From January 2011 through June 2014, Jahnke's workplace was in Harbin, China. (JA-I 55-61, 197, 416; JA-II 56 [116:12-14]). As Project Manager, Jahnke oversaw the development, planning, construction, and opening of the new Harbin Works factory. (JA-I 56 ¶¶ 10-11, 416; JA-II 80-81). Once the Harbin Works factory started assembly, Jahnke served as its Factory Manager. (JA-I 56 ¶¶ 10-11; JA-II 73-75, 358-361). Jahnke agrees that during his expatriate assignment in Harbin, he "went to work every day in China when [he was] Project Manager and then Factory Manager." (JA-II 56 [116:12-14]). As the only Harbin Works factory manager at the time, Jahnke was the face of Deere in Harbin. (JA-II 36 [98:7-11], 60 [154:25-156:13], 66 [193:15-18]; 336, 358).

While on the expatriate assignment, Jahnke directly supervised and oversaw employees and workers at Harbin Works. (JA-II 73-75, 80-82, 358-360). In overseeing all Harbin Works operations, Jahnke planned "to develop our workforce and prepare them for the future includ[ing] the assimulation [sic] the John Deere culture and values, especially the HOW." (JA-II 356).

Because Harbin Works planned assembly for three product platforms, Jahnke worked with people in locations around the world, including Mannheim, Germany; Montenegro, Brazil; and Monterrey, Mexico, as well as Deere's corporate headquarters in Moline, Illinois. (JA-I 474; JA-II 330-331, 334, 358-359).

After Jahnke accepted his expatriate position in Harbin, he sold his home in Urbandale, Iowa, to Deere. (JA-I 587; JA-II 420, 422, 426-

³ In Jahnke's words, the "HOW" means "how [Deere] conducted business in some ways is more important than the results that we

achieve." (JA-II 49 [46:17-23]).

28

434). In 2013, after his divorce, Jahnke purchased a condominium in Florida. (JA-I 588-593; JA-II 422). Jahnke stated in his condominium loan application that the Florida property would be his primary residence. (JA-I 593). Because he worked year-round in Harbin in 2012 and 2013, Jahnke did not pay Iowa income tax or file an Iowa income tax return for those years. (JA-I 621-622; JA-II 424-425). Jahnke had bank accounts in China and Australia, in addition to the Moline-based Deere Employees Credit Union. (JA-I 583, 592; JA-II 131-135, 523-534). In October 2013, Jahnke purchased a townhouse in Australia with Pei Feng, a Chinese citizen, stating in his mortgage application and purchase contract that his residence was Beijing, China. (JA-I 358 [7:17-8:4]), 595-603; JA-II 523-534).

D. Deere's policies and Code of Business Conduct.

Deere has conflict-reporting expectations of its employees and employees of Deere's subsidiaries. (JA-I 138, 444-445; JA-II 567).

Throughout his employment with Deere and John Deere (China)

Investment Co., Ltd., Jahnke received training on subjects including

conflict of interest and reporting policies, workplace harassment, business integrity, leadership, Business Conduct Guidelines, and the Code of Business Conduct. (JA-II 49-50 [48:1-50:19], 50 [51:5-17], 51 [53:9-12]). Jahnke was familiar with Deere's requirement to submit annual conflict-of-interest reporting and to report a potential or actual conflict of interest through the online reporting system at the time the conflict arises. (JA-I 138, 444-445; JA-II 45 [28:9-21], 51 [54:17-55:8], 52 [80:7-20], 54 [97:3-16], 55 [109:12-18], 279).

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