IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 17-0638
POLK COUNTY NO. LA132565

MATTHEW JAHNKE,
Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

DEERE & COMPANY, RICHARD CZARNECKI, and BERNHARD HAAS,
Defendants-Appellants

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County
The Honorable David Porter

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S AMENDED FINAL BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Paige Fiedler AT0002496
paige@employmentlawiowa.com
Nathan Borland AT0011802
nate@employmentlawiowa.com
FIEDLER & TIMMER, P.L.L.C.
8831 Windsor Parkway
Johnston, Iowa 50131
Telephone: (515) 254-1999; Facsimile: (515) 254-9923

Roxanne Barton Conlin
ROXANNE CONLIN & ASSOCIATES, P.C.
3721 SW 61st Street, Suite C
Des Moines, IA 50321

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

If the case involves citizens of Iowa **or** a cause of action **or** rights that arose in Iowa, then the ICRA may be applied territorially. It makes no difference if some of the conduct occurred outside the State or even the United States. This principle was firmly established at least by 1941 after a Florida citizen was convicted of harvesting

⁸ A straw man is “[a] tenuous and exaggerated counterargument that an advocate makes for the sole purpose of disproving it.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 1557.

sponges in the Gulf of Mexico in violation of a state statute. *See Skiriotes v. Florida*, 313 U.S. 69, 69-70 (1941). The plaintiff argued that the harvesting took place outside the boundaries of Florida, in international waters; while the State argued the conduct occurred within its territory. *Id.* at 70-71. The Supreme Court said it did not matter. *Id.* at 76. Florida had the right to regulate the conduct of its citizens even if the offense occurred outside the territorial waters of Florida. *Id.* As long as there is no conflict with federal law, each state retains the status of a sovereign and may use that power to control the conduct of its citizens. *Id.* at 77, 79.

Although Defendants and some courts refer to extraterritoriality as a jurisdictional concept,⁹ it is actually “a judge-made rule of statutory interpretation.” Zachary D. Clopton, *Replacing the Presumption Against Extraterritoriality*, 94 B.U. L. Rev. 1 (2014); *Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co.*, 569 U.S. 108, ___, 133 S.Ct. 1659, 1664 (2013). Commentators have advocated elimination of the presumption against extraterritoriality when it comes to state statutes, arguing that it elevates a desire to avoid conflicts of law and subordinates other important and legitimate goals of the legislative branch. *See* William S. Dodge, *Understanding the Presumption against Extraterritoriality*, 16 Berkeley J. Int’l L. 85, 115-17 (1998); Gary B. Born, *A Reappraisal*

⁹ In the event the Court does find this is a jurisdictional question, *see* IOWA CODE § 602.6101 (establishing the general jurisdiction of Iowa courts). In addition, there is “a presumption that a court of general jurisdiction has jurisdiction over a particular controversy unless a showing is made to the contrary.” *Walles v. Int’l Bhd. of Elec. Workers*, 252 N.W.2d 701, 706 (Iowa 1977).

of the Extraterritorial Reach of U.S. Law, 24 *Law & Pol’y Int’l Bus.* 1, 76 (1992); Clopton, *supra* at 20-21.

Cases finding extraterritoriality all echo the common theme that a state statute should not be applied to people with no connection to the state—particularly when the facts have no connection to the state. *CRST Van Expedited, Inc. v. EEOC*, 2009 WL 158193 (N.D. Iowa) is a good example. There the claims were brought on behalf of residents of South Carolina and Florida. *Id.* at *14, 16. They alleged they were sexually harassed in Alabama, Arizona, New Mexico, Illinois, Georgia, and Oklahoma. *Id.* at *18. There was no evidence that either plaintiff had ever even driven through Iowa. *Id.* The only connection to the case was that the employer was here.

Persuaded by the importance of interstate comity, the court decided the ICRA was not meant to apply extraterritorially to people and conduct with no connection to the state. *Id.* at *20-21. No such comity concerns are present in the case at bar. No state has a fraction of the contacts with the parties and the issues that Iowa has. Even assuming that China had human rights laws that might apply to foreign nationals, that country has no substantive cultural or societal connection with the parties to this case, such that it would be appropriate to subject them to its laws.

Defendants also rely on *EEOC v. Arabian American Oil Co.*, 499 U.S. 244 (1991). There, the Supreme Court held that application of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”) to an American who had been working in Saudi Arabia for the last four years would be extraterritorial. *Id.* at 247. Significantly, the

corporation for which the plaintiff was working was headquartered in Saudi Arabia, and the acts of harassment and discrimination that would have given rise to liability all occurred in Saudi Arabia. *Id.*

In contrast, the case at bar involves an Iowa-domiciled plaintiff on temporary assignment in China, who was discriminated against by Iowans who made their discriminatory decisions in Iowa. As an entity “employing [thousands of] employees *within this state*” (see IOWA CODE § 216.2(7)), Deere is plainly within the definition of “employer” set forth in the ICRA. And as Iowa supervisors who work for such an employer, Defendants Czarnecki and Haas are “persons” subject to liability for their discriminatory acts in violation of the ICRA. See IOWA CODE § 216.6(1); *Vivian v. Madison*, 601 N.W.2d 872, 878 (Iowa 1999).

A. IOWA LAW APPLIES TO PARTIES, THINGS, AND CONDUCT IN THE STATE OF IOWA; TO EVENTS WHICH CAUSE EFFECTS IN IOWA; AND TO IOWA-BASED RELATIONSHIPS

1. Iowa Courts Have Power Over People, Things, and Rights in Iowa

Defendants propose a rule to limit arbitrarily the scope and effectiveness of the ICRA: permitting its use only if the plaintiff’s primary workplace is in Iowa. Def. Brief 69-74. Defendants assert that an unfair employment practice always occurs “at the impacted employee’s regular geographic workplace.” *Id.* But that is simply not true—not in many cases and certainly not true in this case.

Defendants admit that under the ICRA, “an ‘unfair employment practice’ means a discrete act that took place within Iowa’s geographic borders.” Def. Brief 69.

In this case, the discrete *act* was the decision made *in Iowa* by the two individual *Iowa* Defendants to demote and expatriate the Plaintiff.

The Iowa authorities cited by Defendants actually support Plaintiff. Citing Iowa Code section 216.5(3), Defendants state: “The legislature granted the Iowa Commission authority to investigate acts of discrimination ‘in this state.’” Def. Brief 50. Plaintiff seeks coverage for *acts* of discrimination—the decision to repatriate and demote Matthew—that occurred *in this state*. Defendants also quote from *Rent-A-Center, Inc. v. Iowa Civil Rights Commission*, 843 N.W.2d 727, 734 (Iowa 2014): “the ICRC has been authorized by the legislature to interpret, administer, and enforce the Iowa Civil Rights Act to eliminate discriminatory and unfair *practices* in employment *in Iowa*.” Although Defendants put different words in italics, it would be nonsensical to interpret the ICRA as having nothing to say about discriminatory practices committed in Iowa just because the Iowa worker’s temporary assignment was out of state.

Many other courts have held it appropriate to apply the law of the state where the discrimination took place. In those cases, the law of the state where the discrimination actually took place should be used, not simply the law of the place where the plaintiff just happened to be working. *Matthews v. Automated Business Systems & Services, Inc.*, 558 A.2d 1175 (D.C. Ct. App. 1989) is a great example. The trial court held there were insufficient connections between the plaintiff and the District of Columbia for it to have subject matter jurisdiction over the plaintiff’s claim of discrimination. *Id.* at 1177-78. Although the plaintiff spent a significant percentage of

her work time in D.C., the terms of her employment were negotiated in D.C., and some of the acts of discrimination occurred in D.C.; her office was in Maryland. *Id.* at 1178. The appellate court said the most significant fact was that some of the actual acts of discrimination took place in D.C. *Id.* at 1180. After all, the “purpose of the Human Rights Act was ‘to secure an end *in the District of Columbia* to discrimination’” *Id.* “If the events alleged in Matthews’ complaint occurred in the District of Columbia, they are subject to scrutiny under the [Act], regardless of whether her ‘actual place of employment’ was in Maryland, the District, or both.” *Id.* “[T]he critical factual issue bearing on jurisdiction is whether these events took place in the District.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Because the district “erroneously based its decision on the irrelevant factor of Matthews’ ‘actual place of employment,’” its decision was reversed. *Id.* The District of Columbia has faithfully followed this rule, looking to the actual place of the discrimination to decide whether its law should be applied:

- In *Miller v. Insulation Contractors, Inc.*, 608 F. Supp. 2d 97, 104 (D.D.C. 2009), the court applied D.C. law. Even though the plaintiff and defendant were from Maryland and the plaintiff was fired in Maryland, the racial harassment occurred at job sites in D.C. *Id.* at 102.
- The court in *Monteilh v. AFSCME*, 982 A.2d 301, 304 (D.C. Ct. App. 2009) confirmed that the most important factor is the location of the discrimination, and when part of the discriminatory decisions were made in D.C., the claims are cognizable under D.C. law.
- When some of the discriminatory acts occurred in D.C. and one of the plaintiffs was denied a promotion in D.C., D.C. law was properly applied—even though none of the plaintiffs or Defendants were

from D.C. *Quarles v. General Inv. & Dev. Co.*, 260 F. Supp. 2d 1, 20 (D.D.C. 2003).

- A Maryland resident working in Virginia who was sexually harassed in Virginia and D.C. then fired in Virginia, was permitted to use the D.C. Human Rights Act in *Blake v. Professional Travel Corp.*, 768 A.2d 568, 569-71, 575 (D.C. Ct. App. 2001).

See also Reyes-Fuentes v. Shannon Produce Farm, Inc., 671 F. Supp. 2d 1365, 1367, 1372.

(S.D. Ga. 2009) (dismissing concerns over alleged “extraterritoriality” and applying the law of the place where retaliation occurred even though plaintiffs were from Mexico).

Defendants’ proposed rule, with its mechanical focus on the place of the plaintiff’s employment, lacks any logic other than it would leave Matthew Jahnke without a remedy. It would also subject employers—and individual supervisors—to liability for violating the civil rights laws of states they have never even entered. The Court should decline Defendants’ attempt to carve out special rules for employment cases and to stingily interpret the ICRA. Instead, the Court should follow long-standing precedent that says statutes apply to persons, things, property, and rights existing within the territorial jurisdiction of the Legislature. *See Lensing*, 249 N.W.2d at 611-12. Such an approach is consistent with the ICRA’s mandate that it be broadly construed to effectuate its purposes. IOWA CODE § 216.18(1). Using this standard, the district court properly applied the ICRA to Matthew’s claims.

2. Illegal Decisions Made by Iowans Violated the Rights of an Iowan

The parties to this case are all citizens and/or residents of Iowa. Matthew was at all times a citizen of Iowa. His supervisors, Defendants Czarnecki and Haas, were citizens and residents of Iowa. Deere had substantial business interests, property, and employees in Iowa. A corporation's residence is wherever it does business or is registered to do business. BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1423.

“Courts have long recognized that ‘the jurisdiction of the [c]ourt depends upon the state of things at the time of the action brought.’” *Heartland Express v. Gardner*, 675 N.W.2d 259, 266 (Iowa 2003) (alteration in original) (quoting *Keene Corp. v. United States*, 508 U.S. 200, 207 (1993)). Thus, for jurisdictional purposes, citizenship is determined at the time the lawsuit is filed.¹⁰ *Id.* There is no dispute that when the Petition was filed in April 2015, Matthew Jahnke was a citizen and resident of Iowa.

Even while Defendants had him working in China, Matthew never stopped being a citizen of Iowa. First year law students learn the difference between *residence* and *domicile*. *Residence* is the “act or fact of living in a given place for some time.” BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1423. It is someone's “bodily presence as an inhabitant.” *Id.* *Domicile* is a much more exacting standard. *Domicile* is the “place at which a person

¹⁰ As long as it is not done to manipulate jurisdiction, a party's post-occurrence move to the forum state is a relevant contact that must be assessed in determining which state law a forum should apply. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Hague*, 449 U.S. 302, 319 n.28 (1981)). There has never been any suggestion that Matthew's return to Iowa after his demotion was illegitimate. After all, it was Defendants who transferred him to Waterloo.

has been physically present and that the person regards as home; a person's true, fixed, principal, and permanent home, to which that person intends to return and remain even though currently residing elsewhere.” BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 558; *see also Fitzgerald v. Arel*, 16 N.W. 712, 713, 63 Iowa 104 (1883) (*Domicile* is “a fixed, permanent residence, to which, when absent, one has the intention of returning.”). A person “may have more than one residence at a time but only one domicile.” BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1423. Residence “does not equate with citizenship.” *Janzen v. Goos*, 302 F.2d 426, 421 (8th Cir. 1962). A person is a citizen of the state in which he is domiciled. *Sautter v. Interstate Power Co.*, 563 N.W.2d 609, 611 (Iowa 1997). The *Fitzgerald* court gave the example of a foreign minister: although he actually resides and is personally present at the country where he serves, his domicile remains his home country. *Fitzgerald*, 16 N.W. at 714. By the same token:

whenever a man buys or hires a house and sets up housekeeping with his family, with the design of remaining there until he has completed a certain job of work, he becomes an actual resident of that county, . . . notwithstanding his domicile may be in another county, to which he intends to return upon the completion of the job.

Id. “Once a domicile is established, it continues until a new one is established.”

In re Marriage of Kimura, 471 N.W.2d 869, 877 (Iowa 1991).

A new domicile is established if all of the following things happen: (1) the former domicile is abandoned; (2) there is an actual removal to, and physical presence in the new domicile; and (3) there is a bona fide intention to change and to remain in the new domicile permanently or indefinitely. This intention must be a present and fixed intention and not dependent on some future or contingent event.

Id.

Plaintiff remained domiciled in Iowa throughout his work assignment in Harbin. He has been an Iowan since 2000. Throughout the time Matthew worked in Harbin, he never stopped considering Iowa to be his home, where he intended to return. When Matthew left for China, his family continued to live in Urbandale and then Cedar Falls. Both his children were attending school in the state. When Matthew was repatriated, he immediately began living in LaPorte City and bought a home there within two months of his arrival.

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